THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2018-CP-10-03588
Appellate Case No. 2019-001419

RECEIVED
NOV 20 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Nancy Callaghan, Respondent,

v.

Five Star Quality Care, Inc., Five Star Quality Care-OBX
Operator, LLC d/b/a Sweetgrass Court Senior Living Com-
munity, Sweetgrass Village Assisted Living Community,
Lisa McLeod, and Derrick Defino, Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP

By: 

G. Mark Phillips
SC Bar No. 7945
E-Mail: mark.phillips@nelsonmullins.com
Robert W. Whelan
SC Bar No. 71174

Statement of the Issues on Appeal

- 1. Did the Circuit Court err by expanding and misapplying the outrageous torts exception to arbitration instead of giving effect to the plain language in an arbitration agreement manifesting the parties' intent to arbitrate "any claims, controversies, or disputes arising between them," particularly when the law requires that all doubts concerning the parties' intent be resolved in favor of arbitration?**

- 2. Did the Circuit Court err in disregarding the parties' express intent that the Arbitration Agreement bind related parties and holding instead that intended beneficiaries may not enforce their rights under the Agreement?**

Statement of the Case

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court's denial of Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and to Compel Arbitration. Plaintiff filed this suit against Defendants on July 18, 2018, asserting claims for negligence, negligence *per se*, fraud and misrepresentation, and violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. Plaintiff alleges that a third-party unaffiliated with Defendants assaulted her while she resided at Defendants' assisted living facility. Defendants filed an Answer and a Motion to Dismiss and to Compel Arbitration on September 5, 2018. (*See* Answer; Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration).

On March 14, 2019, the Circuit Court heard oral arguments on Defendants' Motion. (*See* Transcript). The Circuit Court denied Defendants' Motion by Order entered on July 30, 2019. (Order). In denying arbitration, the Circuit Court applied the "'outrageous tort' exception to arbitration" to preclude arbitrating Plaintiff's claims "despite the Arbitration Agreement's broad scope." (Order, pp. 2-3). The Circuit Court additionally found that "the Defendants who were not named as parties to the Arbitration Agreement" could not compel arbitration under the Agreement based on its conclusion that "the Arbitration Agreement expresses an intent that its terms apply only to the named parties." *Id.* at p. 3. Defendants served their notice of appeal on August 20, 2019.

Statement of the Facts

This case arises out of Plaintiff Nancy Callaghan's residency in Defendants' senior living facility, Sweetgrass Court, in Charleston, South Carolina. That single fact may be dispositive of this issue. Plaintiff alleges that another Sweetgrass Court resident, a man who Plaintiff did not include as a party to this case, sexually assaulted her. (Compl., ¶ 41). Plaintiff does not claim that any Defendant participated in her assault. Nor does Plaintiff claim that her assailant was acting on Defendants' behalf. Nor does Plaintiff claim that Defendants intended to harm Plaintiff. And even though Plaintiff's claims all arise from that single incident, she did not sue her alleged assailant. Instead, Plaintiff sued Defendants for allegedly not ensuring a safe environment at Sweetgrass Court.

The parties' relationship dates back to October 2016 when Plaintiff moved into Sweetgrass Court. (Pl. Brief in Opp. to Mot. to Compel Arbitration, "Pl. Opp." at p. 2). Plaintiff sought an assisted living facility due to her "dementia and other health issues that prevented [her] from continuing to live at home." *Id.* Plaintiff contracted with Defendants to provide the assisted living services she needed. (*Id.* at pp. 2, 5). Specifically, Plaintiff contracted with Defendants to "provide the care and services she needed in an environment that allowed her to maintain her privacy and dignity." (*Id.* at p. 2). According to Plaintiff, the parties' relationship was founded on Defendants' promises to:

- (1) provide sufficient staff to care for Plaintiff;
- (2) keep Plaintiff safe;
- (3) protect Plaintiff from abuse; and
- (4) respect and protect Plaintiff's dignity.

(Compl., ¶ 22).

Plaintiff alleges that the unrelated party assaulted her a month after she moved in. *Id.* Less than two years after that, Plaintiff filed her suit against Defendants seeking money damages. Plaintiff alleges generally that Defendants did not adequately protect her while she resided at Sweetgrass Court. Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants did not:

- (1) Keep Plaintiff free from abuse and neglect;
- (2) Keep Plaintiff free from sexual assault;
- (3) Protect Plaintiff's dignity; and
- (4) Have proper policies in place to care, treat, and protect Plaintiff.¹

Id. at ¶ 61.

In short, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants did not do what they said they would do, and what Plaintiff expected them to do, when Plaintiff entered into her relationship with Defendants.

After Plaintiff filed suit, Defendants moved to compel arbitration pursuant to an Agreement the parties entered into when Plaintiff moved into Sweetgrass Court (the "Agreement").² The Agreement states:

- Plaintiff and Five Star³ "agree that *any claims, controversies, or disputes arising between them involving a potential monetary amount in excess of \$25,000 shall be resolved exclusively by binding arbitration.*" This bolded language appears in Paragraph 1 on the first page of the Arbitration Agreement. (Agreement, ¶ 1) (emphasis in original).

¹ Plaintiff goes on to allege a handful of other similar duties she contends Defendants breached related to protecting Plaintiff's dignity, keeping adequate records, training its staff, providing adequate staffing, and complying with federal and state regulations. (Compl., ¶ 61).

² The Agreement was signed by the Plaintiff's husband as her attorney in fact. (Agreement, p. 1; Power of Attorney, p. 1)

³ The Agreement defines "Sweetgrass Court ('Facility,' an affiliate of Five Star Quality Care, Inc., collectively [as] 'Five Star')[.]" (Agreement, p. 1).

- **“Both the Resident and Five Star waive their right to a trial by jury.”** *Id.* at ¶ 5. (emphasis in original). This bolded provision appeared in the first paragraph on the top of page 2 of the Agreement. *See id.*
- Plaintiff further agreed that she had:
 - “carefully read” the Agreement;
 - “asked any questions necessary to understand the terms, consequences, and bind effect” of the Agreement;
 - was “executing this Agreement voluntarily;” and
 - was “provided an opportunity to seek the advice of an attorney of their choice before signing this Agreement.” *Id.* at ¶ 10.
- **“THIS CONTRACT CONTAINS BOTH AN ARBITRATION PROVISION AND A WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL, WHICH MAY BE ENFORCED BY THE PARTIES.”** This bolded, underlined provision in all capital letters appeared on a separate page just inches above the parties’ signatures. *Id.* at p. 3. (emphasis in original).

After Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration, the Circuit Court entered an Order denying the Motion. (Order). Defendants contest that Order through this appeal.

Standard of Review

“The question of arbitrability” is a judicial determination and it is “reviewed *de novo*” on appeal. *Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp.*, 402 S.C. 100, 107, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013). The reviewing court must resolve “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues ... in favor of arbitration.” *Id.* at 109, 739 S.E.2d 213. And the “party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration.” *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014).

Argument

The Circuit Court erred in disregarding the plain language of the Arbitration Agreement with respect to both bases for its decision. First, it disregarded the parties’ expressed intent to arbitrate “any claims, controversies, or disputes arising between them,” and instead applied the outrageous torts exception, despite that it has never been applied to facts like these. Second, the

Circuit Court disregarded the parties' expressed intent for the Agreement to "inure to the benefit of" their related parties.

- I. **The Circuit Court erred by expanding and misapplying the outrageous torts exception instead of giving effect to the unambiguous language in an arbitration agreement manifesting the parties' intent to arbitrate "any claims, controversies, or disputes arising between them," particularly when the law requires that all doubts concerning the parties' intent be resolved in favor of arbitration.**

A court's "first task" on a motion to compel arbitration is to "determine whether the parties agreed to arbitrate that dispute." *Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc.*, 473 U.S. 614, 626 (1985). The answer is yes if the "factual allegations underlying the claim are within the scope of the broad arbitration clause." *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). This may be true in one of two ways. First, a claim is arbitrable if the agreement "specifically encompasses the asserted claims." *Timmons v. Starkey*, 380 S.C. 590, 596, 671 S.E.2d 101, 105 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff'd*, 389 S.C. 375, 698 S.E.2d 809 (2010) (citations omitted). Second, a claim is arbitrable if "there exists a significant relationship between the asserted claims and the parties' contract." *Id.*; *see also J.J. Ryan & Sons, Inc. v. Rhone Poulenc Textile, S.A.*, 863 F.2d 315, 321 (4th Cir. 1988).

In short, a court's central role in assessing arbitrability is to effectuate the intent of the parties by assessing whether they intended to arbitrate the claim at issue. In doing this, South Carolina courts have adopted something they call the outrageous torts exception to establish a definite rule regarding arbitration of claims arising outside of an underlying contract. South Carolina's outrageous torts exception cannot change this core role without violating federal law. However, that is just what the Circuit Court did here. It expanded and misapplied the outrageous torts exception, failed to give effect to the parties' unambiguous intent to arbitrate all disputes arising

between them, and did not apply binding federal substantive law. For those reasons, the Order cannot stand.

a. The Circuit Court erred by applying the outrageous torts exception beyond its limited application.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina first named the “outrageous torts exception to arbitration” in 2007 to establish “a more definitive rule” to determine “whether a significant relationship exists” between a claim and an underlying contract. *Aiken v. World Finance Corp. of South Carolina*, 373 S.C. 144, 151, 644 S.E.2d 705, 709 (2007).⁴ The Court announced that courts will not “interpret any arbitration agreement” to apply to “outrageous torts that are unforeseeable to a reasonable consumer in the context of normal business dealings.” *Id.*⁵ Since then, courts have applied the outrageous torts exception “sparingly” and have been “reluctant” to find that “conduct underlying the lawsuit” is “unrelated to the contract containing the arbitration agreement.” *Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 20, 791 S.E.2d 128, 138 (2016) (Toal, A.J., dissenting).

⁴ Two years earlier, this Court forecasted that “tortious behavior” that the parties could not have “reasonably foreseen” falls outside the significant relationship test. *Chassereau v. Global-Sun Pools, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 628, 635, 611 S.E.2d 305, 308 (2005). This principle, which the Supreme Court of South Carolina ultimately named the outrageous torts exception, was born as a natural limitation on prior common law expansion of the substantial relationship test from tort-based claims “interwoven” in the underlying contract to tort-based claims that merely related to the underlying contract. While certain appellate opinions since *Chassereau* have shaded over that history, Justice Hearn, in a concurrence, recently indicated that the purpose announced in *Chassereau* still stands. *Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc.*, 418 S.C. 1, 14, 791 S.E.2d 128, 135 (2016) (Hern, J., concurring).

⁵ See *infra* § I.c. for an explanation of the Federal Arbitration Act’s (“FAA”) application to this case. This initial iteration of the outrageous torts exception violates the FAA’s “equal-treatment principle,” which prohibits courts from invalidating arbitration agreements based on “legal rules that ‘apply only to arbitration or that derive their meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue.’” *Kindred Nursing Centers Ltd. P’ship v. Clark*, 137 S. Ct. 1421, 1426 (2017) (quoting *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011)).

In the face of *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, the South Carolina Supreme Court delivered a fractured opinion attempting to clarify the outrageous torts exception in light of the FAA's now clear meaning.⁶ In separate opinions, three Justices sought to clarify that despite its new name, the outrageous torts exception was not a new legal doctrine, but instead the application of the long-standing contract interpretation maximum to effectuate the intent of the parties. *Parsons*, 418 S.C. at 13-14, 791 S.E.2d at 134-135 (Hern, J., concurring) (opining that the outrageous torts doctrine "embodies a generally applicable contract principle: effectuating the intent of the parties"); *id.* at 17, 791 S.E.2d at 136 (Toal, A.J., dissenting) (opining that "the so-called 'outrageous and unforeseeable tort exception to arbitration' is merely a label for this Court's application of a longstanding contract principle – effectuating the parties' contractual intent.").⁷

Stated differently, the otherwise fractured Court agreed that the outrageous torts exception simply ensures parties are not required to "arbitrate behavior that they clearly did not contemplate upon entering the contract, or arbitration agreement." *Id.* at 14, 791 S.E.2d at 135. (Hern, J., concurring).⁸ To that end, under the umbrella of the outrageous torts exception, courts will continue to refuse arbitration where an "outrageous tort is legally distinct from the contractual relationship

⁶ Justices Pleicones and Justice Kittredge opined that the outrageous torts exception violates the FAA and must be overruled. *Parsons*, 418 S.C. at 12, 791 S.E.2d at 133-34.

⁷ Acting Justice Toal further opined that the outrageous torts exception to arbitration is nothing more than a "formal label" that is, in fact, a "misnomer." *Parsons*, 418 S.C. at 19, 791 S.E.2d at 137.

⁸ This iteration of the outrageous torts exception also likely violates the FAA because instead of applying the general contract principle which requires a court to give effect to the parties' intentions as evidenced in the contract, it requires a judicial determination, not present elsewhere in contract law, of what a reasonable consumer may foresee in the future. However, Defendants recognize that this Court is bound by the Supreme Court of South Carolina's opinions and must apply the law as it exists.

between the parties” and based on “wholly unexpected tortious conduct.” *Aiken*, 373 S.C. at 151, 644 S.E.2d at 709. That is not the case here for at least two reasons.

First, Plaintiff’s claims against Defendants are not legally distinct from their relationship. Plaintiff alleges that she entered into a relationship with Defendants to receive “assisted living services.” (Pl. Opp., p. 5). One of, if not the most central of the services is to provide a reasonably safe environment for residents. (Compl., ¶ 22). Defendants’ alleged duty to protect Plaintiff, therefore, stems exclusively from her residency at Sweetgrass Court. And Plaintiff alleges Defendants did not provide a safe environment. (*See, e.g.*, Compl., ¶ 61). Nothing could be more central to these parties’ relationship. And it is not “wholly unexpected” behavior or “legally distinct” from the parties’ underlying relationship. Allegedly failing to provide a reasonably safe environment in an assisted living facility is not a claim that the parties “clearly did not contemplate upon entering the contract or arbitration agreement.” *Parsons*, 418 S.C. at 14, 791 S.E.2d at 135 (Hern, J., concurring). Instead, these allegations are the very essence of arbitrable claims in this context.

The two South Carolina cases the Circuit Court cites in support show the erroneousness of its holding. In both, the defendants committed intentional torts that the defendants intended to harm the plaintiff. In one, the defendant stole the plaintiff’s identity. *Aiken*, 373 S.C. at 147, 644 S.E.2d at 707. In the other, the defendant defamed the plaintiff. *Chassereau*, 373 S.C. at 170, 644 S.E.2d at 719. Here, Plaintiff alleges that a third-party, not Defendants, assaulted her. Plaintiff instead alleges Defendants negligently admitted and failed to discharge another resident at Sweetgrass Court. There are no allegations that Defendants intended to harm Plaintiff through those traditional business decisions. As a result, the claims against Defendants do not allege outrageous and wholly unexpected conduct. Instead, these are “rather commonplace” tort claims against senior

living and medical facilities.⁹ See *Wilson v. Willis*, 416 S.C. 395, 419, 786 S.E.2d 571, 584 (2016) (holding that claims centering on “alleged failure to sufficiently investigate, train, supervise, and audit” are “rather commonplace” and do not “include intentional or otherwise outrageous conduct).

Second, the Circuit Court’s decision to broadly “apply[] this exception to torts arising out of sexual assault” is not supported by the cases it cites. It also plainly violates the FAA. The Supreme Court has held that a “law prohibit[ing] outright arbitration of a particular type of claim” violates the FAA. *Concepcion*, 563 U.S. at 339. Instead, the handful of cases the Circuit Court cites show that the Circuit Court conflated the allegations against the non-party assailant with the allegations against Defendants. This is because every one of these cases analyzes whether a person who commits sexual assault or his employer, may force the victim to arbitrate claims almost exclusively in the employment context.¹⁰

To be sure, these cases do not hold that torts “arising out of sexual assaults” are generally not subject to arbitration. Instead, they assess whether sexual assault falls within the scope of employment. Indeed, none of the cited cases even address whether failing to stop an unrelated third-party attacker constitutes outrageous and unforeseeable behavior that parties “clearly did not

⁹ *Victoria v. Superior Court*, also cited in the Court’s Order, involved a hospital’s attempt to compel arbitration of a patient’s claim that she was sexually assaulted by the hospital’s employee. 40 Cal.3d 734 (1985). There, the court did not order arbitration because the agreement was ambiguous over whether it covered the employee’s actions because the alleged assault was outside the scope of his employment, and construed the ambiguity against the drafter, the hospital. See *id.*

¹⁰ See, e.g., *Arnold v. Burger King*, 38 N.E. 3d 69 (Ohio App. 2015) (employee’s allegation that her supervisor assaulted her in the men’s room at employer’s restaurant was independent of employment relationship); *Doe v. Princess Line Cruise Lines, Ltd.*, 657 F.3d 1204 (11th Cir. 2011) (declining to compel arbitration of employee’s claims that she was drugged and sexually assaulted by co-employee while off-duty because claims did not relate to her employment); *Jones v. Haliburton Co.*, 583 F.3d 228 (5th Cir. 2009) (employee’s claim that she was assaulted by a co-employees after hours while employee was off-duty in her bedroom did not relate to her employment); *Smith v. Captain D’s, LLC*, 963 So.2d 1116 (Miss. 2007) (finding that employee’s claim that manager raped her at work during work hours was not within the scope of the arbitration agreement in employee’s contract).

contemplate upon entering the contract or arbitration agreement” – the relevant inquiry under the outrageous torts exception. *See Parsons*, 418 S.C. at 14, 791 S.E.2d at 135 (Hern, J., concurring). For the Circuit Court to find these foreign cases relevant, it would have to conflate the alleged conduct of non-parties with the alleged conduct of Defendants since only Defendants’ conduct is relevant here. The Circuit Court’s reliance on those cases was, therefore, in error.

- b. The Circuit Court erred in looking beyond the plain and unambiguous language in the Agreement, which manifests the parties’ clear intent to arbitrate all claims arising between them.**

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