THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

William H Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001419

---

**RECEIVED**  
FEB 04 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

Nancy Callaghan ..... Respondent

v.

Five Star Quality Care, Inc., Five Star  
Quality Care-OBX Operator, LLC d/b/a  
Sweetgrass Court Senior Living  
Community, Sweetgrass Village Assisted  
Community, Lisa McLeod and Derrick  
Defino ..... Appellants.

---

**RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

---

John G. Felder, Jr.  
Richard A. "Trey" Jones III  
McGowan, Hood & Felder, LLC  
1517 Hampton Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 779-0100

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

### **ARGUMENT**

Appellants ignored DHEC regulations and willfully harbored a known sexual predator (“the Perpetrator”) in the Facility inhabited by elderly women powerless to protect themselves. (Compl. ¶¶ 24-26; 31; 43). Appellants retained the Perpetrator in the Facility against his own doctor’s wishes so Appellants could continue profiting from his presence. (Compl. ¶¶ 46-47). Appellants defied their regulatory duty to report the Perpetrator’s known history of abuse both to avoid scrutiny and possible sanction from the state but also to falsely portray a façade of safety to the next family considering the Facility as their vulnerable loved one’s new home. (Compl. ¶¶ 50-52). Respondent Nancy Callaghan was the latest of the Perpetrator’s victims, sexually assaulted after his previous offenses were well-known but unreported by Appellants and after Appellants specifically represented the Facility was a safe place for Ms. Callaghan to live with the difficult realities of her dementia diagnosis. (Compl. ¶¶ 37, 41).

The key question before the circuit court was whether these allegations against Appellants would constitute an “outrageous tort.” The circuit court correctly concluded they would. In asking the Court to force Ms. Callaghan into arbitration (and to prevent her from even seeking punitive damages), Appellants do not so much contest the outrageousness of the allegations against them as they attack the legitimacy of South Carolina’s “outrageous tort” exception to arbitration. But, that exception, recently reaffirmed by the Supreme Court, is well grounded in core contract interpretation principles. Courts interpret every contract in a manner

that carries out the parties' expectations for the relationship they intend to form. Drawing on South Carolina precedent applying the exception as well as a wide body of persuasive authority, the circuit court correctly concluded that turning a blind eye to sexual predation could not have fallen within any party's expectation for the ordinary business relationship Appellants formed with Ms. Callaghan. Accordingly, the circuit court properly applied state law and properly respected federal law when ruling even the most broadly worded arbitration provision could not have intended to capture Ms. Callaghan's current claims.

Additionally, the circuit court correctly found the Arbitration Agreement could not be enforced by Appellants Sweetgrass Village Assisted Living Community, Lisa McLeod, or Derrick Defino because none of them were parties to the Agreement. While each points to one portion of the Arbitration Agreement, claiming it extends the contract to related entities, the contract overall does not support that interpretation because only the Agreement's narrowly-defined "Parties" would be bound by an arbitrator's ruling and the bolded, underlined text right above Ms. Callaghan's signature block assures her arbitration may be enforced "by the parties." At best for these Appellants, this form contract of adhesion is ambiguous on this point and was properly interpreted in Ms. Callaghan's favor.

**1. The Circuit Court Correctly Concluded that Willfully Harboring a Known Sexual Abuser would be an Outrageous Tort.**

Nursing home residents' claims typically make allegations of negligence related to resident care errors such as preventable falls, malnutrition, or the development of painful bedsores. As Ms. Callaghan's counsel told the circuit court, were those the claims Ms. Callaghan alleged here, she would not have raised a scope objection to arbitration. (Hearing Tr. at 9, line 23 – 10, line 5). However, Appellants' wrongful retention of a known sexual abuser in contravention of his doctor's wishes was legally distinct from the contractual relationship they

formed with Ms. Callaghan. Moreover, no reasonable person in Ms. Callaghan's position could conceive she would suffer a sexual assault in Appellants' facility as a result of such bizarre and egregious misconduct.

Appellants take issue with the manner in which the circuit court determined Ms. Callaghan's claims were not within the Arbitration Agreement's scope. But, the circuit court correctly applied South Carolina contract law which is in no way at odds with the Federal Arbitration Act (9 U.S.C. § 1 to 16) ("FAA"). No matter how broadly worded an arbitration contract is written, generally applicable contract law holds that its scope cannot be unbounded. Landers v. Fed. Deposit Ins. Corp., 402 S.C. 100, 115, 739 S.E.2d 209, 217 (2013) ("even the broadest of [arbitration] clauses have their limitations"). Not even the broadest arbitration provision applies when the claim and the parties' contract lack a "significant relationship." Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 151, 644 S.E.2d 705, 709 (2004). In defining "significant relationship," the South Carolina Supreme Court adopted, and later affirmed, a rule holding that, at the very least, the relationship does not exist for "outrageous torts that are unforeseeable to a reasonable consumer in the context of normal business dealings." Id.; Parsons v. John Wieland Homes & Neighborhoods of the Carolinas, Inc., 418 S.C. 1, 791 S.E.2d 128 (2016).

Appellants err in arguing this "outrageous tort exception" violates the FAA because in reality the exception is grounded in generally applicable contract interpretation principles applied by many other courts just using different labels. In fact, as some courts have held, reading arbitration provisions as broadly as Appellants suggest would itself violate the FAA. The Court should also reject Appellants' contention that the circuit court's application of the exception is an unreasonable expansion of the doctrine beyond its roots in Aiken and progeny. Appellants have

not shown how intentionally harboring a sexual abuser is significantly related to a nursing home's relationship with its resident.

**a. The Outrageous Tort Exception is a Valid Component of South Carolina Contract Law and Consistent with the FAA.**

Appellants brand the outrageous tort exception as a facially anti-arbitration anomaly of South Carolina law that violates the FAA's "equal-treatment principle." Appellants Br. at 7 n. 5 (citing Kindred Nursing Ctrs., Ltd. P'ship v. Clark, 137 S. Ct. 1421, 1426 (2017) and AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011)). Appellants go on to argue Aiken and Parsons should both be overturned. Appellants Br. at 7 n. 5; at 8 n. 8. These arguments against precedent are misguided because they misunderstand where the exception comes from and what the "equal-treatment principle" truly means. As Justices Hearn, Beatty, and Toal explained in Parsons, the outrageous tort exception is borne out of the intent and mutual assent considerations courts apply to every contract. 418 S.C. at 13-14, 17, 791 S.E.2d at 135-36. Additionally, calling these considerations an "exception" to arbitration does not violate the equal-treatment principle which permits courts to "announc[e] a new, generally applicable rule of law in an arbitration case" so long as the rule is in fact generally applicable. Kindred Nursing, 137 S. Ct. at 1428 n. 2.

Ms. Callaghan agrees with Appellants that the core of contract interpretation is effectuating the parties' intent. But, before interpreting a contract, a court must first be satisfied a contract was formed by the parties—i.e. the formation of a "meeting of the minds" in which the parties mutually assented to all of the contract's material terms. Anderson Mem'l Hosp., Inc. v. Hagen, 313 S.C. 497, 498 n. 1, 443 S.E.2d 399, 400 n. 1 (Ct. App. 1994). The outrageous tort exception is a natural outgrowth of the intent rule and the mutual assent requirement. In Aiken, employees of a consumer lender were accused of taking borrowers' personal identifying information (e.g. social security numbers and dates of birth) and misappropriating them to obtain

sham loans in the borrowers' name. 373 S.C. at 146-47, 644 S.E.2d at 707. Borrowers alleged negligent and intentional tort claims against the lender, which defended by citing an arbitration provision in the lender's legitimate loan contract with each borrower. Id. The Court was tasked with determining whether the admittedly broad arbitration provision from the borrower-lender contract extended to cover the borrower's claims based on the brazen but unrelated misconduct of the lender's employees. Id. at 147, 644 S.E.2d at 708.

Accordingly, Aiken presented a garden-variety contract interpretation question and was resolved using standard contract interpretation rules. Id. at 151, 644 S.E.2d at 709 (couching its holding in "general principles of contract law"). The Court first evoked the mutual assent requirement to conclude a person "cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit." Id. at 149, 644 S.E.2d at 708 (citing Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 596, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001)). Thus, fully crediting state and federal pro-arbitration policy, Aiken held that "even the most broadly-worded arbitration agreements still have limits." Aiken, 373 S.C. at 151, 644 S.E.2d at 709; see also Landers, 402 S.C. at 115, 739 S.E.2d at 217. The "significant relationship" test<sup>1</sup> Aiken applied for determining a broadly worded arbitration contract's limits is simply an application of the mutual assent rule that applies to every contract regardless of its subject matter. Since the outrageous tort exception is just an elaboration of the significant relationship test, it too is directly connected to the mutual assent requirement of contract formation. Aiken, 373 S.C. at 151, 644 S.E.2d at 709 (describing exception as a "more definitive rule" for applying significant relationship test).

---

<sup>1</sup> The "significant relationship" test is not a South Carolina-specific rule. Many other jurisdictions use this analysis to determine the boundaries of a broadly worded arbitration provision. See e.g. Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Schmidt, 445 F.3d 762, 767 (4th Cir. 2006) (quoting J.J. Ryan & Sons v. Rhone Poulenc Textile, S.A., 863 F.2d 315, 321 (4th Cir. 1988)); Jackson v. Shakespeare Found., Inc., 108 So.3d 587, 593 (Fla. 2013); Griggs v. Evans, 43 A.3d 1081, 1088 (Md. App. 2012).

The connection between core contract rules and the outrageous tort exception is further evidenced by the three post-Aiken cases applying the exception. All three held the exception was nothing more than an application of the rule requiring courts to interpret a contract consistently with its parties' intent. In Chassereau v. Global Sun Pools, Inc., 373 S.C. 168, 644 S.E.2d 718 (2007), a woman who financed a swimming pool was not compelled to arbitrate her claim that the pool seller's agents defamed and harassed her when she fell behind on her payments. Chassereau examined the broadly worded arbitration provision carefully but, given the lack of connection between the sales contract and the defamation claim, the court was left with "no doubt that [the woman] *did not intend to arbitrate*" the claim. 373 S.C. at 172, 644 S.E.2d at 721 (emphasis added); see also Partain v. Upstate Automotive Group, 386 S.C. 488, 689 S.E.2d 602 (2010) (holding that a car buyer "did not intend to submit" to arbitration his claim that a dealer maliciously switched the agreed-upon car with an inferior model).

Similarly, this Court has held that an arbitration provision in a financial services contract between investor and advisor did not cover negligence or consumer fraud claims because the prospect of an advisor converting his client's funds for personal use was "not within the parties' contemplation" when the contract was formed. Hatcher v. Edward D. Jones & Co., L.P., 379 S.C. 549, 554, 666 S.E.2d 294, 297 (Ct. App. 2008) (finding misconduct underlying negligence claim was "completely outside the expectations of the parties at the time the contract was entered"). Hatcher went one step further, holding that to interpret a broadly worded arbitration provision to apply to claims wholly unforeseeable at contract formation would be inconsistent with pro-arbitration policy by contravening the parties' intentions. Id.

The exception's proven pedigree as a general contract law principle is what led the majority of the Court in Parsons to reject the equal-treatment principle argument Appellants raise

here. Both Justice Hearn (joined by Justice Beatty) and Acting Justice Toal believed the “exception” may be inartfully named but its underlying legal principles “are equally applicable to contracts and arbitration agreements.” 418 S.C. at 13 n. 9, 791 S.E.2d at 134 n. 9; Id. at 17, 791 S.E.2d at 136 (Toal, A.J., dissenting) (describing “exception” as “merely a label” for “effectuating the parties’ contractual expectations”). Along with the intent and assent principles discussed above, Justice Hearn made special reference to courts’ refusal to interpret contracts in a way that could lead to an absurd result and cited non-arbitration cases where the same principle was applied. 418 S.C. at 14 n. 9, 791 S.E.2d at 135 (citing Koon v. Fares, 379 S.C. 150, 155, 666 S.E.2d 230, 233 (2008) and Auto Owners Ins. Co. v. Rollison, 378 S.C. 600, 609, 663 S.E.2d 484, 488 (2008)).

In sum, the outrageous tort exception fully comports with the FAA’s equal-treatment principle because it is derived from general contract law rules applying beyond arbitration contracts. If there has been any mistake in Aiken and its progeny, it has been in stating or implying that refusing to force arbitration for wholly unforeseeable torts was either new in Aiken or is an “exception” to arbitration. As the majority held in Parsons, this principle is not new or arbitration-specific but merely a means to accomplish the core goal of contract law which is to make parties’ expectations and intent the top priority.

**b. The Outrageous Tort Exception was Properly Applied to Ms. Callaghan’s Claims.**

Appellants next argue that, even if the outrageous tort exception is valid, it does not apply here because Appellants choosing to retain the Perpetrator against his doctor’s recommendation and to effectively grant the Perpetrator access to the Facility’s female residents was “central” to the contractual relationship Appellants formed with Ms. Callaghan. Appellants Br. at 9. However, as alleged in the Complaint, the required connection between claim and contract is

even weaker here than in previous cases applying the exception. In fact, the circuit court cited a number of analogous cases finding sexual assaults to be outside the scope of broad arbitration agreements. Thus, while the alleged assault on Ms. Callaghan happened when she was a resident of Appellants' Facility, the misconduct leading to it bears little connection to the contractual relationship the parties formed and was beyond what any reasonable person could have foreseen when the relationship began.

Ms. Callaghan agrees with Appellants that the exception requires consideration of factors including whether the claim arises from behavior that was (1) beyond the contemplation of the parties at contract formation; (2) "legally distinct" from the contractual relationship the parties formed; and (3) "wholly unexpected." Appellants Br. at 8-9 (citing Parsons, 418 S.C. at 14, 791 S.E.2d at 135 and Aiken, 373 S.C. at 151, 644 S.E.2d at 709). Appellants argue Ms. Callaghan's claims do not meet these standards because both her claims and the parties' relationship are related to resident safety. Appellants' Br. at 9. Appellants also assert that previous cases applying the exception are distinguishable because Ms. Callaghan does not allege intentional misconduct. Id. Finally, Appellants contend the circuit court conflated their conduct with the Perpetrator's, improperly charging them with the outrageous acts of this "unrelated third-party." Appellants' Br. at 10. Appellants' arguments fail to fully credit Ms. Callaghan's Complaint allegations and to properly apply the applicable law. Each argument will be addressed in turn.

Appellants first point to Ms. Callaghan's Complaint, arguing she alleges a specific connection between her claims and her relationship with Appellants by asserting the parties' relationship was based on Appellants making a promise to provide Ms. Callaghan a safe environment which Appellants breached by maintaining an unsafe environment. Appellants' Br. at 9. This argument misconstrues and oversimplifies the Complaint allegations. Ms. Callaghan

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